Safeguarding
Children Exposed
to Extremist
Ideology: Practice
Guidance

## **Contents**

Introduction	1
Government strategy	3
Definition of extremism	3
The Prevent strategy	3
Channel	4
Specified authorities	4
Specified authorities - the education sector	5
Roles and Responsibilities for all Professionals and Volunteers	6
Safeguarding children and young people	6
Factors that may lead to extremism	6
Assessing risk to children and young people	7
Training and Awareness	8
Workshop Raising Awareness of Prevent: WRAP3 training	8
Responding to concerns: Information gathering and monitoring	9
Responding to Concerns: When to Make Referrals to Local Authority Child	
Local Authority Children's Social Care	11
Introduction	11
Risk of travel to conflict zones	11
Responding to contacts and referrals	11
Multi-agency checks where there are concerns regarding radicalisation	12
Taking action when a young person is at risk of radicalisation	12
Taking action when the child at risk is in the care of local authorities	13
Placements outside of borough	15
Involvement of groups of children in care	15
Leaving care / aftercare	15
Strategic Analysis and Oversight	15
Local Safeguarding Children Boards [Local SCBs]	15
Appendix A: Prevent Priority Authorities	17
Appendix B: Channel Guidance – further information	18
The Multi-Agency Channel Panel	18
Channel Guidance	18

Channel awareness training	18
Channel: Protecting vulnerable people from being drawn into terrorism A guide for local partnerships [October 2012]	18
Appendix C: Resources	19
Government policy: Protecting the UK against terrorism	19
Contest	19
Prevent Strategy	19
The Prevent Duty Guidance – including for further education institutions	19
Government Policy: Safeguarding children	19
Cancelling the passport of a child at risk of radicalisation	19
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015	19
Information Sharing Advice	19
What to do if you're worried a child is being abused	20
Guidance for schools and colleges	20
Keeping children safe in education	20
Protecting children from radicalisation: the prevent duty	20
Guidance on promoting British values in schools	20

## Introduction

Children and young people can be radicalised in different ways:

- They can be groomed either online or in person by people seeking to draw them into
  extremist activity. Older children or young people might be radicalised over the internet
  or through the influence of their peer network in this instance their parents might not
  know about this or feel powerless to stop their child's radicalisation;
- They can be groomed by family members who hold harmful, extreme beliefs, including parents/carers and siblings who live with the child and/or person(s) who live outside the family home but have an influence over the child's life;
- They can be exposed to violent, anti-social, extremist imagery, rhetoric and writings
  which can lead to the development of a distorted world view in which extremist ideology
  seems reasonable. In this way they are not being individually targeted but are the victims
  of propaganda which seeks to radicalise.

A common feature of radicalisation is that the child or young person does not recognise the exploitative nature of what is happening and does not see themselves as a victim of grooming or exploitation.

The harm children and young people can experience ranges from a child adopting or complying with extreme views which limits their social interaction and full engagement with their education, to young children being taken to war zones and older children being groomed for involvement in violence.

This practice guidance summarises the responsibility of professionals and volunteers to intervene effectively to prevent the grooming of children for involvement in extremist activity. For many, this will mean being alert to the ways in which young people can become vulnerable to radicalisation, the indicators that they are being radicalised and knowing how to report these concerns. For others, who have more specific safeguarding responsibilities, it will involve complex work to support victims and disrupt and prosecute perpetrators. For everyone, it will involve questioning attitudes and beliefs that may get in the way of recognising that children are being radicalised and providing the consistent, determined non-judgemental support they and their families need.

This guidance recommends that Part A of the London Child Protection Procedures is followed in relation to cases where children are at risk of involvement in extremist activity. Children at risk of harm as a result of involvement or potential involvement in extremist activity should be referred to children's social care and the normal processes of checks and information gathering, assessment, strategy discussions and review processes should be followed in line with the risk level identified – see the Thresholds document in the London Child Protection Procedures [ available at: <a href="http://www.londoncp.co.uk/files/revised\_guidance\_thresholds.pdf">http://www.londoncp.co.uk/files/revised\_guidance\_thresholds.pdf</a> ] for examples of the indicators of need which would require an early help response or a response under section 17 or section 47 of the Children Act 1989.

It is important to emphasise that this guidance suggests that cases should not be held outside of children's social care unless they do not meet the threshold for a response under section 17 [child in need] or section 47 [child protection] of the Children Act 1989.

It may be appropriate to discuss some individual cases at strategic meetings such as the Channel Panel meetings but these meetings shouldn't 'hold' the cases - they should continue to be managed by children's social care.

Local authorities might find it appropriate to use child in need processes to protect children at risk of child of involvement in extremist activity where there are no or very limited concerns relating to the family home and use child protection procedures where there are safeguarding concerns relating to the family - all such decisions should be recorded and the rationale explained. However, it should be noted that there is nothing in law that restricts the use of child protection procedures to cases where the risks are intra-familial.

Children's social care should have a system in place to flag cases where there is a risk of involvement in extremist activity – any such system should enable cases to be flagged where risk is identified and to have the flag removed when that risk is no longer current. This will enable an assessment of the extent the risk relating to extremism in each local authority and across London.

The Editorial Board of the London Child Protection Procedures developed this guidance in order to avoid a parallel safeguarding process being developed for children at risk of involvement in extremist activity. The existing safeguarding procedures are robust and have a high level of accountability – it was decided that it is neither practical nor desirable to try and duplicate this system for different forms of risk.

This guidance should be read in conjunction with the following documents:

The London Thresholds Guidance: <a hresholds.pdf</a> <a hresholds.pdf</a> <a hresholds.pdf</a>

This Guidance includes 'Indicators of Possible Need' which are designed to provide practitioners with an overarching view of which tier of support and intervention a child or family might require. These tiers start with children who have no need for additional support and move on to identify those children whose circumstances mean they require an immediate referral to children's social care or the police. These indicators cover a wide range of issues that can cause harm to children including key indicators that a child or young person is at risk from extremist ideology

The Prevent Strategy - available at: www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/prevent/prevent-strategy

## **Government strategy**

## Definition of extremism

The government has defined extremism as:

Extremism is the vocal or active opposition to our fundamental values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and the mutual respect and tolerance of different faiths and beliefs. We also regard calls for the death of members of our armed forces as extremist.

The government's strategy to reduce the risk from terrorism identifies the need not only to stop terrorist attacks but also to prevent people becoming terrorists. The Government's strategy for countering international terrorism is CONTEST<sup>1</sup> and the Prevent strategy forms a part of this.

## The Prevent strategy

Terrorist groups seek to radicalise and recruit people to their cause. The aim of Prevent is to stop people becoming or supporting terrorists by challenging the spread of terrorist ideology, supporting vulnerable individuals, and working in key sectors and institutions.

Prevent addresses all forms of terrorism and non-violent extremism which can create an atmosphere conducive to terrorism and can popularise views which terrorists then exploit. The Prevent strategy makes clear that preventing people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism requires challenge to extremist ideas where they are used to legitimise terrorism and are shared by terrorist groups<sup>2</sup>. The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 puts the existing Prevent programme on a statutory footing.

The Prevent Strategy sets out the following responsibilities for staff who engage with the public. They should:

- Understand what radicalisation means and why people may be vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism as a consequence of it.
- Be aware of what the government means by the term 'extremism' and the relationship between extremism and terrorism.
- Know what measures are available to prevent people from becoming drawn into terrorism and how to challenge the extremist ideology that can be associated with it.
- Understand how to obtain support for people who may be being exploited by radicalising influences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The overall UK strategy for Countering Terrorism, known as CONTEST is available at; http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/counter-terrorism/counter-terrorism-strategy/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance

Work to safeguard children and adults, including the provision of early intervention to protect and divert people away from being drawn into terrorist activity, is central to the revised Prevent strategy. Staff and organisations can access training through their local prevent lead and their local safeguarding children board.

#### Channel 3

One of the objectives of the Prevent strategy is to:

Support individuals who are vulnerable to recruitment or have already been recruited by violent extremists.

Channel is a programme which focuses on providing support at an early stage to people who are identified as being vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. Channel is modelled on other successful multi-agency risk management processes.

Channel uses existing collaboration between local authorities, the police, statutory partners (such as the education sector, social services, children's and youth services and offender management services) and the local community to:

- · Identify individuals at risk of being drawn in to extremism
- · Assess the nature and extent of that risk
- Develop the most appropriate support for the individuals concerned.

## Specified authorities

The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on certain bodies ("specified authorities" listed in Schedule 6 to the Act), in the exercise of their functions, to have "due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism".

The following are 'specified authorities':

- Local authorities
- Education and early years providers
- Health services
- Prisons and probation
- The police

For a fully list of specified authorities see the 'Revised Prevent Duty Guidance: for England and Wales [July 2015]<sup>4</sup>.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/445977/3799\_Revised\_Prevent\_Duty\_Guidance\_\_England\_Wales\_V2-Interactive.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also Resources - <u>Channel Guidance</u> – for further information

The duties for staff working for these authorities vary according to the sector, but all include that they should:

- Work in partnership to fulfil their duties.
- Be provided with training to meet their responsibilities.
- Ensure there are effective mechanism for identifying and referring vulnerable individuals to the government's Channel programme.
- Be aware of the information sharing agreements in place for sharing information with other sectors and know how to get advice and support on confidentiality issues when responding to potential evidence that someone is being drawn into terrorism.
- Staff working in 'specified authorities subject to the duty' can expect their organisations to provide appropriate training in the implementation of this duty.

## Specified authorities - the education sector

Schools and early years providers are subject to the duty to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism. See 'Revised Prevent Duty Guidance: for England and Wales [July 2015]<sup>5</sup> for a full list of educational authorities which are subject to the duty. Being drawn into terrorism includes not just violent extremism but also non-violent extremism which can create an atmosphere conducive to terrorism and can popularise views which terrorists seek to exploit.

Schools should be safe spaces in which children and young people can understand and discuss sensitive topics, including terrorism and the extremist ideas that are a part of terrorist ideology and learn how to challenge these ideas. The Prevent duty is not intended to limit discussion of these issues. Schools should, however, secure a balanced presentation of political issues.

Schools will be expected to ensure children are safe from terrorist and extremist material when accessing the internet in school. This will include establishing appropriate levels of filtering content. For further information for schools see Appendix C: <u>Guidance for schools and colleges</u>

Both independent and state-maintained schools also have a duty to 'actively promote' the fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs. These values were first set out by the government in the 'Prevent' strategy in 2011. See Appendix C: <u>Guidance for schools and colleges</u> for guidance on promoting British values.

<sup>5</sup> 

## Roles and Responsibilities for all Professionals and Volunteers

## Safeguarding children and young people

The grooming of children for the purposes of involvement in violent extremist activity is child abuse and professionals and volunteers working with children and young people should follow their agency, and local area policies and procedure for the safeguarding of children when they have concerns that a child or young person is as at risk of, or is being, exploited in this way.

The direct or indirect grooming of children for involvement in any extremist activity causes harm, and professionals and volunteers working with children and families should be alert to the warning signs and intervene early to challenge and disrupt this process. Referrals to children's social care should be made where there are concerns that the child is at risk of harm and/or their health and development is likely to, or is being, impaired.

Advice regarding the assessment of risk in relation to extremism and support to identify appropriate interventions can be provided by Prevent Co-ordinators/Leads [every local authority has a lead]. However, if there is immediate cause for concern, then a referral to children's social care should be made.

## Factors that may lead to extremism

The Channel guidance identifies the following as factors that may influence the decision of an individual to become involved in extremism:

- Exposure to an ideology that seems to sanction, legitimise or require violence, often by providing a compelling but fabricated narrative of contemporary politics and recent history.
- Exposure to people or groups who can directly and persuasively articulate that ideology and then relate it to aspects of a person's own background and life history
- A crisis of identity and, often, uncertainty about belonging which might be triggered by a range of further personal issues, including experiences of racism, discrimination, deprivation and other criminality (as victim or perpetrator); family breakdown or separation
- A range of perceived grievances, some real and some imagined, to which there may seem to be no credible and effective non-violent response.

However, the guidance goes on to state that:

... there is no single route to violent extremism nor is there a simple profile of those who become involved. For this reason, any attempt to derive a 'profile' can be misleading. It must not be assumed that these characteristics and experiences will necessarily lead to individuals becoming violent extremists, or that these indicators are the only source of information required to make an appropriate assessment about vulnerability.

## Assessing risk to children and young people

Please refer to the Thresholds of Need in the London Child Protection Procedures for examples of indicators of need which show factors which escalate risk.

http://www.londoncp.co.uk/files/revised\_guidance\_thresholds.pdf

Children and young people may express support for extremist and/or terrorist organisations but it should be born in mind that, as with adults, they may express strong opinions without understanding those opinions and may also express entirely contradictory views at different times. The expression of strong and even offensive views on a range of issues can be a part of growing up – testing what it is ok to say/testing out ideas/provoking reactions/seeking to create a distinctive identity and rebelling against adults. For these reasons, it is important that professionals and volunteers consider a range of factors when assessing the risk in relation to a child who expresses or is reported to have expressed extremist views.

Concerns regarding a child may arise as a result of the following:

- The child expresses strongly held and intolerant views towards people who do not share his/her religious or political views.
- The child expresses verbal support for extreme views some of which may be in contradiction to British law. For example, they may, from time to time, espouse racist, sexist, homophobic or other prejudiced views and links these with a religion or ideology.
- The child expresses intolerant views towards peers which lead to their being socially isolated.

#### Concerns may lessen where:

- The child is open to other views.
- The child loses interest quickly.
- They appear to have superficial knowledge of the issues.
- Their behaviour has not changed.
- The child has a range of friends who do not appear to share their views.
- Their family challenge their views and/or behaviour.
- The family holds sexist, homophobic or otherwise prejudiced views derived from an interpretation of their religion but they are not hate filled.

#### Concerns may increase where:

- The child has an association through family, friends and/or fellow students with members of extremist organisations.
- Friends or family have travelled to conflict zones, such as Syria, and:
  - They went to support, or otherwise be involved in, extremist activity.
  - There is no information as to why they went, or;
  - Although the reasons given for travelling do not involve support of extremist activity, they lack credibility.
- The child appears to have an in depth knowledge of extremist ideology for example from known extremist texts/websites.

- The child has age inappropriate knowledge.
- The child has seen violent videos.
- The child refuses to engage or responds negatively when their views are questioned or challenged.
- The child talks with fixed, scripted ideas that are un-swayed and won't accept alternative views.
- The child uses phrases or soundbites from extremist websites/groups which appear to have been learnt by rote and are not necessarily understood.
- The child's behaviour has changed in accordance with the extremist views they
  espouse, for example, their dress has changed and/or they object to associating with
  people who don't share their views.
- The child tries to enforce their views on others for example advocating separate spaces on the basis of gender or prioritising space on the basis of ethnicity.
- The child's friendship group shares their views.
- The child's family seem unconcerned and/or supportive of their child's views and behaviour.

## Training and Awareness

It is the responsibility of all professionals and volunteers working with children and young people:

- To be aware of the risk factors and indicators for radicalisation and to be alert to the
  possibility that a child they are in contact with may be being groomed for involvement
  in extremist activities.
- To understand their organisations policies and procedures regarding radicalisation and to ensure they follow them where they think that a child may be at risk of or being exploited in this way.
- To know who their organisation's designated safeguarding children professional is and how and when to contact them for advice.
- Be sufficiently knowledgeable and competent to contact local LA children's social care
  or the police about their concerns directly and to complete the appropriate referral
  form.

#### **Workshop Raising Awareness of Prevent: WRAP3 training**

WRAP is a Home Office training package designed for front-line staff in the private and public sector including; HR professionals, social services, the health sector, the education sector, the probation service, offender management units, family protection units, employment services and the housing sector. It provides an overview of the Prevent Strategy and ways of identifying individuals vulnerable to radicalisation, as well as those who radicalise. There are over 5000 WRAP 3 trained facilitators nationally, and over 500 are registered in London. The LSCBs should have details of all the locally trained facilitators and should be able to provide details of courses.

## Responding to concerns: Information gathering and monitoring

Professionals/volunteers may have concerns that a young person is at risk of being radicalised, but the concerns may be non-specific and could have arisen for a number of different reasons. These concerns might arise because something unusual happens or the young person's behaviour changes. For example:

- A young person who has not previously been seen with expensive belongings starts to be seen with expensive clothes and/or phone etc.
- A young person truants from school on 2 or 3 occasions.
- A young person's behaviour and/or mood deteriorates and there is no obvious explanation.

For further examples see Tier 2 [Children with additional needs that can be met through the provision of 'early help] in the 'The Thresholds of Need'.

http://www.londoncp.co.uk/files/revised\_guidance\_thresholds.pdf

In these circumstances, the professional/volunteer should:

- Keep an open mind there may be a number of different reasons for these changes.
- Discuss their concerns with their designated safeguarding professional lead, who will
  be able to offer advice and suggestions for further action and also decide whether a
  referral to LA children's social care is required.
- Gather information often it is only when otherwise small pieces of information are shared that it is possible to see whether they add up to a serious concern.
   Alternatively, sharing information can allay fears by providing a reassuring explanation.
   Depending on the remit of the organisation and the role of the professional/volunteers, it may be appropriate to:
  - Share concerns with other professionals who know the young person and ask if they have also noticed that something is amiss.
  - Talk to the young person themselves, explaining the concerns and ask what the cause maybe.
    - It is important to be non-judgemental and not make assumptions about what is happening.
  - Talk to siblings, friends and classmates, asking them if there is anything going on.
    - It is important to maintain confidentiality and be mindful of the potential impact of talking about the situation with other young people.
  - Talk to parents and carers.
     It is important to share concerns with parents and carers whilst also being mindful of the potential impact on the young person and their relationship with their parents/carers.

Where, the concerns continue but remain low level and non-specific, the professional/volunteer should, in conjunction with the designated safeguarding lead:

- Agree to continue to monitor the situation with a view to either deciding that the concerns are unfounded or that a referral to LA children's social care is required.
- Refer to 'early help' services, such as sports activities, youth clubs, in-house support services, parenting support etc.

Where the concerns escalate and there is a concern that the child is a child in need a referral should be made to LA children's social care. See threshold document: http://www.londoncp.co.uk/files/revised\_guidance\_thresholds.pdf

## Responding to Concerns: When to Make Referrals to Local Authority Children's Social Care or the Police

Please refer to the Thresholds of Need in the London Child Protection Procedures for examples of indicators of need which require a referral to local authority children's social care. <a hresholds.pdf</a>

A young person should be referred to LA children's social where there are a cluster of vulnerabilities that may indicate the young person is being radicalised or there are one or two indicators which, on their own, escalate concerns. An example of a cluster of concerns that would require a referral to LA children's social care is:

 A young person has been reported as expressing support for terrorist activities, has been absent within the school day on 2 or 3 occasions and it has been reported that s/he has shown fellow students extremist literature.

#### See also Factors which increase concerns

Examples of specific risks relating to radicalisation that on their own would require a referral to LA children's social care include:

- A young person has a close friend or family member who has gone to a conflict zone with the intention of supporting or becoming involved in the conflict.
- A young person who is reported to hold extreme views and promote the use of violence has repeat missing episodes or a one off episode which cause a high level of concern.

If the child/young person is at immediate risk of harm, the matter should be reported to the police straight away. A referral should also be made to the local authority children's services.

Advice around specific cases can be provided by Prevent leads, local authority Prevent coordinators or police Prevent officers.

Referrals to LA children's social care should be made in accordance with <u>section 2. Referral</u> <u>and assessment</u> in the London Child Protection Procedures (London Board, 2013).

## Local Authority Children's Social Care

#### Introduction

LA children's social care holds the lead responsibility for safeguarding children at risk as a result of extremist activity. The police hold the lead responsibility for the disruption and prosecution of perpetrators. The work to support children and young people at risk of, or being exploited for the purposes of involvement in extremist activity should be carried out in conjunction with the work to disrupt and/or prosecute perpetrators.

If a local authority is a Prevent priority authority it is important that the Prevent co-ordinator is also alerted to concerns – see <u>Appendix A</u> for a list of Prevent Priority authorities.

Assessment of, and planning for young people at risk of, or being exploited for the purposes of involvement in extremist activity, needs to be flexible and take account of each child's individuality, the uniqueness of his / her circumstances and the changes that may occur for him / her over time. This kind of exploitation is dynamic; the young person's circumstances can change and on occasions deteriorate very rapidly. All professionals should be aware that assessments need to be continual and display vigilance.

## Risk of travel to conflict zones

A key risk is that a child or young person may travel alone or with family and/or friends to a conflict zone to support or actively engage in extremist activities. They might also be taken as younger children by parents or carers who themselves intend to support or actively engage in extremist activities. Where this risk has been identified, children's social care should work with the police to minimise this risk. Action can include taking legal action to remove the child or young person's passport.

The government has also produced guidance for parents which explains how they can cancel their child's passport if they have concerns that they might be planning to travel to a conflict zone - see link to the guidance.

## Responding to contacts and referrals

When an individual or agency contacts children's social care regarding a child or young person they might not have the knowledge or expertise to identify the risk factors for radicalisation. Hence, children's social care should assess whether radicalisation is a risk for any child or young person even where it isn't raised by the person making contact.

In addition, where an individual or agency contacts LA children's social care regarding a child or young person who they identify as being at risk of, or as being, radicalised, LA children's social care should assess whether the information supplied indicates a risk of radicalisation. Where the information supplied clearly doesn't indicate risk factors, the person or agency who made contact should be informed of this and why. If no further information of risk is supplied and there are no other concerns for the child or young person, no further action will be taken.

Where radicalisation is identified as a potential risk, LA children's social care will carry out an assessment under section 17 of the Children Act 1989 to identify the child's level of risk and need for service provision and will advise the referrer of the outcome of this assessment:

- The assessment may identify the child to be at risk of significant harm and in need of protection. This may necessitate a child protection enquiry under section 47 of the Children Act 1989: or
- The assessment may indicate that the child is in need and that services are needed prevent impairment to their health and development
- Where no concerns are identified, there will be no further action by CSC but the child
  may require early help or universal services. In these cases, LA children's social care
  will advise the referrer verbally and in writing as to why the agency is to take this
  position.

## Multi-agency checks where there are concerns regarding radicalisation

Where there are concerns regarding radicalisation the normal process of multi-agency checks is not sufficient, information should also be requested from the police Prevent Officer.

## Taking action when a young person is at risk of radicalisation

In cases where a child has suffered, or is likely to suffer, significant harm, LA children's social care must convene a strategy discussion meeting in order to determine whether child protection enquiries should be made in line with <a href="mailto:section-3.">section 3. Child Protection s47</a>
<a href="mailto:Enquiries">Enquiries</a> <a href="http://www.londoncp.co.uk/chapters/chi\_prot\_enq.html">http://www.londoncp.co.uk/chapters/chi\_prot\_enq.html</a>

Multi-agency checks should be carried out in order that information held by different agencies can inform the Strategy Discussion/Meeting. These checks should include a request for any relevant information from the police Prevent lead.

The local authority Prevent lead should have input into the strategy discussion but action should not be delayed if s/he is not available. Other invitees should include the police, teacher, health professional, and any other significant involved professional

There are three possible outcomes of the Strategy Discussion/Meeting:

- Where it is likely that a child is at risk of significant harm, child protection procedures under Section 47 will commence.
- If the threshold is not met for child protection procedures but s/he meets the threshold for services as a 'child in need', a child in need plan will be put in place.
- Where the 'child in need' threshold isn't met, then a lead professional will be identified and an early help plan put in place.

Child protection procedures may be more useful when the parents are thought to be neglectful or collusive with the radicalisation, but the reason for making a decision should always be recorded. Where it is decided that a child is at risk of radicalisation (suffering significant harm)

but child protection procedures are not necessary this decision and the reason should be recorded on the child's file.

Where child protection processes are not needed but the 'child in need' threshold is met, the child should be made subject of a child in need plan. All CIN plans should be reviewed at 3 monthly intervals until it is no longer needed.

Whenever possible, the child and their parent/carer should be invited to CIN meetings. However, family attendance must be carefully assessed and only agreed if attendance will not compromise the child's safety or the progress of the investigation. The final decision should be taken by the child protection or team manager. This decision should be clearly recorded on the child's case file.

## Taking action when the child at risk is in the care of local authorities

When a referral is received regarding a child in care, the allocated social worker must inform their team manager and the above procedures should be followed. The local authority Prevent lead should be invited. Consideration should be given to inviting the fostering link worker, residential manager and Independent Reviewing Officer [IRO] to the strategy meeting.

The child's IRO will always be informed of new information and changes to placement and care plans.

Where a strategy meeting is convened the meeting should consider:

- Risk of flight overseas.
- Whether there is foster carers and/or their relatives/friends risk present any risk.
- Whether the child should remain in their placement
- Risks to other children in the placement
- The appropriateness and method of informing the child's parents. If children are
  accommodated, parent/s must be informed of all significant matters. When a child is
  subject to a care order, generally their parent/s should be informed of such a significant
  matter. A decision not to inform the parent/s should be recorded on file.
- The child's social worker and the carer/s should put in place a written strategy which balances the need for assertive action and the need to not unduly increase the likelihood of the child running away in response to the action being taken, and possibly placing themselves at even greater risk.
- Any consideration of restriction of liberty or confiscation of property needs to be agreed by the team or service manager responsible for the child's case.
- Active work should be undertaken with the child to address issues of their self-esteem, relationships, sexuality, sexual relationships and health.

- Whether or not the child is moved from their placement, the other children in the placement should be monitored to identify whether they are also at risk of harm from, or are in some way supporting, the radicalisation.
- If the child is in a residential unit or a foster care placement, the staff or foster carers should be asked to take positive action to clarify and record suspicions. The following steps should be taken:
  - The child should be recognised as a victim of grooming and not seen as making their own choices;
  - All relevant information is recorded in the child's file concerning adults and identifying information (e.g. appearance, cars etc., telephone activity, the child's patterns of going missing etc.) - together with decisions and clear directions for action.
  - Making every effort to dissuade the child from leaving by talking to them, involving them in alternative activities, and ensuring they have the resources to attend, including escorting where necessary;
  - Ensuring that the child is aware of the legal issues involved, including advice that staff cannot safeguard money which is reasonably suspected to have been gained through being groomed for involvement in extremist activities. When staff do acquire such money, they must retain it and seek legal advice;
  - Monitoring telephone calls and letters by preventing the child from receiving some incoming calls, being present when phone calls are made, confiscating a mobile phone which is being used inappropriately, opening some letters in the presence of the child and withholding letters if necessary; reasons for intercepting letters and calls should be included in the care plan;
  - Monitoring callers to the home, or adults collecting children by car. This may involve turning visitors away, or passing information direct to the police, monitoring any suspicious activity in the vicinity of the home and informing the police;
  - If a child has left their foster home or residential unit and staff/foster carers are concerned that they are at risk, they should inform the local police and pass on relevant information. They should also inform the child's social worker.
  - Offering sensitive and welcoming responses to children returning home.

If the child is in foster care, the social worker and fostering link worker should meet with the foster carer to discuss the outcome of the strategy meeting and the steps to be taken by the foster carer. This needs to take place in consultation with the fostering team manager.

The child's behaviour and attitude may be challenging, and carers and staff will require ongoing support, advice and training in knowing how to respond. These needs must be considered and resources identified, either by the manager of the residential unit or the fostering link worker.

Professionals and carers should be aware of their own position in relation to the child, e.g. male carers or staff may be viewed with suspicion or contempt.

#### Placements outside of borough

It is sometimes necessary to place a young person outside of the borough. This can be because of the lack of availability of appropriate placements within the borough and also because of concern that the young person is at risk in the local area.

When a young person is placed outside of the borough, a risk assessment should be carried out and the receiving local authority notified of the move and provided with the risk assessment. Risk assessments should be informed by information from the local authority where the child is going to be placed and this may include liaising with the prevent co-ordinator.

#### Involvement of groups of children in care

Where there is knowledge or strong suspicion that children are involved in extremist activities, or are being controlled by the same person, there will need to be additional planning. The procedures outlined in the 'Organised and Complex Abuse' chapter<sup>6</sup> should be followed.

It will be important to ensure that there are no inconsistencies between individual children's care plans. Where the placement is in another authority, or children from other authorities are involved, that authority's child protection manager (or equivalent) must be contacted, to discuss which authority is to take overall responsibility for convening the meeting and coordinating the response.

#### Leaving care / aftercare

The same procedures as above should be followed in cases where young people in the leaving care team are considered to be at medium or high risk of abuse through radicalisation.

The pathway plan for any young person where there are concerns about radicalisation should specifically identify their vulnerability to extremist ideology, and address the factors known to impede successful recovery from radicalisation (e.g. homelessness, poverty, lack of educational and employment opportunities and lack of supportive social contacts).

## Strategic Analysis and Oversight

## Local Safeguarding Children Boards [Local SCBs]

The Prevent Duty Guidance in England and Wales [July 2015] emphasises the responsibility of the <u>specified authorities</u> listed above, to work in partnership with Local SCBs. Local SCBs will need to assure themselves that the local multi-agency partnership is effectively safeguarding children and young people from the risks associated with radicalisation.

An example of the type of work taking place in one London borough includes the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Chapter 8, Part A, London Child Protection Procedures, http://www.londoncp.co.uk/chapters/organised\_complex.html

- Delivering *Prevent* awareness training to frontline professionals and volunteers. A
  key aspect of raising awareness of radicalisation and extremism in many London
  boroughs has been through the roll out of the Home Office accredited WRAP training
  programme (Working to Raise Awareness of *Prevent*) to key frontline professionals
  in both the statutory and community sectors. WRAP is a 90 minute training session
  and is often delivered by *Prevent* Leads.
- Engagement with schools to meet Ofsted framework standards in relation to *Prevent*.
- If the local authority is a Prevent Priority authority then it will be important to develop and maintain strong links with the Prevent lead. This could include Local SCB membership of the Prevent Strategic Delivery Group or the Community Safety Partnership.
- Embedding *Prevent* into existing early intervention referral pathways for children and young people.
- Briefing head teachers and governors, building upon their existing safeguarding capabilities to identify, challenge and refer concerns around extremism and radicalisation.
- Case work in individual schools has been supported by the *Prevent* Co-ordinator and children's social care with curriculum resources for use in the classroom.

## **Appendix A: Prevent Priority Authorities**

Barking and Dagenham	Barnet	Brent
Camden	Ealing	Enfield
Greenwich	Hackney	Hammersmith and Fulham
Haringey	Hounslow	Islington
Kensington and Chelsea	Lambeth	Lewisham
Newham	Redbridge	Southwark
Tower Hamlets	Waltham Forest	Wandsworth
Westminster		

## **Appendix B: Channel Guidance - further information**

## The Multi-Agency Channel Panel

The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 [Chapter 2] provides that each local authority must have a panel to provide support for people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. This puts the existing voluntary programme for people at risk of radicalisation on a statutory footing (in England and Wales this is the "Channel Programme").

The role of the multi-agency panel is to develop an appropriate support package to safeguard those at risk of being drawn in to extremism based on an assessment of their vulnerability.

Depending on the nature of the case the panel may include the following:

- Police
- Local authority Prevent lead
- · Schools, colleges and universities
- Youth Offending Services
- Directors of Children's Services
- Health services
- UK Border Agency
- · Social workers adults and/or children's
- Housing
- Prisons and probation
- Local communities, voluntary organisations and charities

#### Channel Guidance

Channel is part of the Prevent strategy. The process is a multi-agency approach to identify and provide support to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into terrorism.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/channel-guidance

## Channel awareness training

http://course.ncalt.com/Channel\_General\_Awareness/01/index.html

# Channel: Protecting vulnerable people from being drawn into terrorism A guide for local partnerships [October 2012]

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/118194/channel-guidance.pdf

## **Appendix C: Resources**

## Government policy: Protecting the UK against terrorism

#### **Contest**

The government's counter terrorism strategy is called CONTEST; the link below leads you to the main documents that explain how the UK will react to terrorist threats or emergencies.

#### https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/contest

The strategy is based on 4 areas of work:

- pursue: to stop terrorist attacks
- prevent: to stop people becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism
- protect: to strengthen our protection against a terrorist attack
- prepare: to mitigate the impact of a terrorist attack

#### **Prevent Strategy**

[Presented to Parliament by the Secretary of State for the Home Department by Command of Her Majesty June 2011]<sup>7</sup>

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/97976/prevent-strategy-review.pdf

# The Prevent Duty Guidance – including for further education institutions https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance

## Government Policy: Safeguarding children

#### Cancelling the passport of a child at risk of radicalisation

This guide explains how you can request the cancellation of the passport of a child under 16 at risk of radicalisation.

Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancelling-the-passport-of-a-child-at-risk-of-radicalisation">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancelling-the-passport-of-a-child-at-risk-of-radicalisation</a>

#### Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015

Statutory guidance on inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. Available at: Working Together to Safeguard Children

#### **Information Sharing Advice**

Department of Education advice about information sharing, for people who provide safeguarding services to children, young people, parents and carers.

Available at: Information Sharing Advice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Other resources relating to the review of the Prevent Strategy can be found at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-strategy-2011">https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-strategy-2011</a>

#### What to do if you're worried a child is being abused

Departmental advice to help practitioners identify the signs of child abuse and neglect and understand what action to take.

Available at: What to do if you're worried a child is being abused

## Guidance for schools and colleges

#### **Keeping children safe in education**

Statutory guidance for schools and colleges on safeguarding children and safer recruitment. Available at: Keeping children safe in Education

#### Protecting children from radicalisation: the prevent duty

Departmental advice for schools and childcare providers on preventing children and young people from being drawn into terrorism.

Available at: Advice for schools and childcare providers on the Prevent duty

#### **Guidance on promoting British values in schools**

Strengthened guidance on improving the spiritual, moral, social and cultural development of pupils. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/news/guidance-on-promoting-british-values-in-schools-published">https://www.gov.uk/government/news/guidance-on-promoting-british-values-in-schools-published</a>